# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/30/2020 9:57 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99185-5

(COA NO. 52415-5-II)

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FIFE PORTAL, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company; FIFE PORTAL 140 OWNERS ASSOCIATION, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company; and Z.V. COMPANY, INC., a Washington Corporation,

Appellants-Petitioners,

v.

CENTURYLINK, INC., a Louisiana corporation licensed to do business in Washington, and PACIFIC UTILITY CONTRACTORS, INC., a Washington Corporation,

Respondents.

#### APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### I. INTRODUCTION

CenturyLink, one of the country's largest telecommunications companies, recklessly caused one of its cable-laying subcontractors to drill blindly underground for hundreds of feet into private property, without permission, causing extensive damages. Yet to date CenturyLink has escaped any legal accountability for its actions. This Court should grant review to address the approach taken by the lower courts to the governing statutes and legal doctrines, which in those courts' view dictate this result.

CenturyLink obtained a permit from the City of Fife to install conduit under a public right-of-way adjacent to industrial property owned by Fife Portal. As a permit holder, CenturyLink was required to comply with all conditions imposed by the City of Fife for the right to place its conduit in the public right-of-way. CenturyLink directed its subcontractor, Pacific Utility, to use an underground boring method that left Pacific blind to existing utilities. CenturyLink then compounded the inherent danger of this method with a series of missteps—including several permit violations—that made the ensuing disaster virtually inevitable: CenturyLink (1) failed to locate underground utilities; (2) failed to obtain an easement from Fife Portal; (3) gave Pacific inaccurate engineering plans showing nine feet between the public sidewalk and Fife Portal's property, rather than the actual one foot; and (4) ignored Pacific's request to survey the boundary lines.

Under pressure to proceed, Pacific relied on CenturyLink's inaccurate plans and bored into Fife Portal's property. The inevitable

ensued—Pacific bored into Fife Portal's storm drain and the City's water main, causing hundreds of thousands of dollars in damages. When CenturyLink refused to accept responsibility, Fife Portal incurred substantial mitigation and remediation costs. Pacific was eventually held liable and ordered to pay nearly \$200,000 in compensatory damages, trebled under the trespass statute (RCW 4.24.630) and the Underground Utility Damage Prevention Act (chapter 19.122 RCW, colloquially known as the *Dig Law*). But CenturyLink avoided liability when, astonishingly, the trial court granted a directed verdict based on *lack of causation*.

The Court of Appeals affirmed, applying a crabbed reading of the trespass statute and the Dig Law, thus allowing CenturyLink—the principal miscreant—to avoid any accountability for its reckless actions and omissions. In an era when only a few telecommunications companies control the public's ability to work remotely and access information, the legislative expression of public policy embodied in the trespass statute and the Dig Law demands that CenturyLink be punished for its actions through the treble-damage provisions of these statutes, to deter further misconduct.

The Court of Appeals also affirmed a summary judgment that dismissed most of Fife Portal's investigative and restoration costs on the ground that Fife Portal had not yet incurred those costs, even though the services had already been provided and were continuing. This legal conclusion conflicts with established law, under which an injured party may recover costs incurred—or to be incurred—because of tortious wrongdoing.

The issues raised by the errors of the Court of Appeals warrant review because they present issues of substantial public interest and a conflict between the decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Fife Portal, LLC, the Fife Portal 140 Owners Association, LLC, and Z.V. Company, Inc. (collectively *Fife Portal*) seek review of the unpublished Court of Appeals' decision terminating review issued on August 11, 2020 (the *Decision*) (copy attached as App. A). A timely motion for reconsideration was denied on October 26 (copy attached as App. B).

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. **Separate liability for treble damages.** Fife Portal recovered statutory treble damages against CenturyLink's now-defunct subcontractor, but not against CenturyLink, which was dismissed on a directed verdict. The near-universal rule is that punitive damages are recoverable from each liable defendant. Should this Court grant review to decide whether to adopt that rule and permit recovery against CenturyLink? *Yes.* RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- 2. **Scope of liability for treble damages under the trespass statute.** The Court of Appeals held that a defendant must itself go onto the plaintiff's property to be liable for trebling of damages under RCW 4.24.630(1). Should this Court grant review to decide whether a defendant may be liable for trebling of damages under 4.24.630(1) when an agent of the defendant goes onto the plaintiff's property and damages it, and the defendant directed and controlled the agent's actions that caused the damage? *Yes.* RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- 3. Scope of liability for treble damages under the Dig Law. Excavators who willfully or maliciously damage marked underground utilities are liable for treble damages under RCW 19.122.070(2). The Court of Appeals held that CenturyLink was not an excavator. Should this Court grant review to decide whether an entity like CenturyLink, which routinely performs excavations in Washington through the actions of third-party subcontractors under CenturyLink's direction and control, may be liable

under RCW 19.122.070(2) for treble damages to the same degree as its subcontractors? *Yes.* RAP 13.4(b)(4).

4. **Recoverability of costs yet to be incurred.** The Court of Appeals' holding that costs necessitated by a defendant's wrongdoing are not recoverable unless they have been "incurred" (*e.g.*, by the formal tender of a bill) conflicts with this Court's precedents. Should this Court grant review to resolve this conflict? *Yes.* RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Fife Portal owns an industrial property in Fife, designed and developed by First Corps.

Fife Portal owns a 7.5-acre industrial property in Fife, Washington, which includes six industrial buildings and has several tenants. RP 420-21, 435, 588-90; Ex. 1. Fife Portal hired First Corps, Inc., to design and develop the property as a general contractor. RP 588-89, 602; CP 795. The property includes an 11-foot-wide space between the industrial buildings and the boundary of a City of Fife public right-of-way that abuts the property's northern boundary; the space is landscaped with grass and trees and contains all of the property's underground utilities. RP 595, 735; CP 26, 475.

B. CenturyLink hired subcontractor Pacific to install conduit under the public right-of-way located next to Fife Portal's property. CenturyLink directed Pacific to use underground boring, which would render Pacific blind to underground obstacles.

CenturyLink—the nation's second largest telecommunications company—provides cable and communication services to customers across the country. CenturyLink hired Pacific Utility Contractors to install underground conduit under the public right-of-way next to Fife Portal's property. CP 26, 161; Ex. 8 at 2-3; Ex. 9. CenturyLink directed Pacific to

use a trenchless-boring method to install the conduit. RP 531; CP 1114-15, 1862. This method uses a drill to bore a hole underground through which conduit can be pulled, without incurring the expense of excavating the surface landscape. CP 162, 1861-64. Because the subcontractor does not excavate the surface, it is blind to any obstructions that may lie below the surface. CP 1861-64.

C. CenturyLink ignored permit conditions intended to prevent trespass onto private property and damage to underground utilities.

CenturyLink obtained a permit from the City of Fife to install its conduit (Exs. 5, 8), but then did not comply with permit conditions meant to prevent trespass onto private property and to protect underground utilities from damage.

1. CenturyLink failed to locate the underground utilities on Fife Portal's property and the public right-of-way, as required by its permit from the City of Fife.

The permit required CenturyLink to take "special precautions" to protect the integrity of underground utilities. Ex. 8 at 4. This included the specific requirement to locate all underground utilities at least three days before starting work. Ex. 5 at 1. Every state in the union requires utility companies and excavators to call *811* to locate all underground utilities before starting work. Yet CenturyLink neither itself requested nor directed its subcontractor to perform any utility "locates" near the planned work. RP 511-12, 521-22, 597; CP 26, 142-43.

## 2. CenturyLink failed to obtain an easement from Fife Portal, as required by its permit from the City of Fife.

CenturyLink's engineering plans showed nine feet between the public sidewalk and Fife Portal's boundary line. Ex. 5; RP 484-85. The plans required work to be done several feet from the sidewalk edge, under a landscape strip located between the sidewalk and Fife Portal's buildings—including placement of the bore pit from where the underground boring would start. Ex. 5; RP 456-57, 484-89, 511-12. But CenturyLink's plans were wrong; there was only *one foot* between the public sidewalk and Fife Portal's boundary line, meaning that CenturyLink's boring work would extend beyond the right of way, onto Fife Portal's property. RP 489, 511-12, 520-22; Ex. 5 (incorrectly showing that the City's right-of-way boundary line encompassed all of Fife Portal's landscape area).

The City recognized that Century Link's plans would require boring outside the right of way and on private property. RP 484-89, 511-12. So the City's permit required CenturyLink to get an easement from Fife Portal. Ex. 8 at 3; RP 487-89. But CenturyLink did not get that easement and never contacted Fife Portal before directing Pacific to begin work.

# D. CenturyLink ignored a request from Pacific to confirm the location of Fife Portal's boundary lines.

Before boring began, Pacific requested that CenturyLink survey the project's boundary lines because Pacific was unable to confirm Fife Portal's property line as reflected on CenturyLink's plans. RP 467-68, 476-77, 520-23, 809; Ex. 7. CenturyLink typically performs surveys when requested, but ignored this request because it was "inundated with work." RP 468; *see* 

also RP 522-23. With CenturyLink's permit about to expire, Pacific chose to begin boring based on the supposed nine feet between the public sidewalk and Fife Portal's property, as shown on CenturyLink's plans. Ex. 5.

E. Under CenturyLink's supervision, Pacific proceeded to bore into Fife Portal's property, striking Fife Portal's storm-drain pipe and the City's water main, causing extensive damage to Fife Portal's property and underground utilities, and the City's water main.

After Pacific began boring under Fife Portal's landscape area, a CenturyLink representative visited the project site to monitor the progress. RP 813-14, 822-23; Ex. 10 at 14. CenturyLink had authority to stop the boring, but did not. RP 530, 813-15, 822-23.

Pacific first struck and damaged Fife Portal's storm-drain piping. Ex. 10 at 14; CP 26, 31-32, 41, 71-72, 80. Instead of notifying Fife Portal and investigating the extent of the damage, Pacific excavated and reburied the damaged piping, meanwhile causing more damage to Fife Portal's property. RP 596, 627; CP 26-27, 68, 81. Pacific then resumed boring and again struck and damaged the storm-drain piping, and also struck the City's water main, causing it to rupture and blow out the concrete covering immediately above. Exs. 2-3, 8, 10 at 19-22, 12 at 1; CP 25-26, 68, 71-72, 78-79; RP 425. This created a large, dangerous sinkhole in Fife Portal's driveway and damaged about 3,200 square feet of its property. CP 1055; Ex. 15 (copy attached as App. C).

F. After CenturyLink refused to take responsibility for the damage it caused, Fife Portal hired First Corps to investigate and remediate the damage. Meanwhile, Pacific—still under CenturyLink's supervision—again trespassed on Fife Portal's property, causing additional damage.

CenturyLink refused to accept responsibility for the damages it caused.<sup>1</sup> RP 634, 638-39, 645-46. Fife Portal—specifically, the Owners Association—then hired First Corps as general contractor to oversee the investigation and remediation of the damage. CP 385, 387-95, 402-03, 433, 435-39, 475, 477-48; RP 601-02, 795, 1365. First Corps performed the same role as it did in developing the property. CP 24-26, 402, 475-78. It hired the same engineers and contractors to perform the remediation work as it did ten years earlier to design and develop the property. RP 600-01, 641, 646-47, 944-45; Ex. 16. It retained George Humphrey—drawing on his extensive experience developing industrial properties, including Fife Portal's—to facilitate the effort. CP 24-25, 385, 396, 403, 433-36, 475; RP 588, 602.<sup>2</sup>

Despite the ongoing remediation efforts, and ignoring an express direction from Fife Portal to stay off its property, Pacific trespassed *again*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This is despite CenturyLink's being required by the City of Fife municipal code to repair and to pay for all damage to private property. FIFE MUNICIPAL CODE (FMC) 11.01.170(G)(1), (H); FMC 12.09.100; FMC 12.09.150.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For instance, Fife Portal had to excavate portions of its landscape area to inspect the subgrade infrastructure. CP 1365. Fife Portal observed that water was backing up in the storm-drain piping and that the storm-drain piping was continuing to subside. CP 1366. Because the soil supporting the flatwork on Fife Portal's property also continued to subside, the driveway's concrete panels began cracking, collapsing, and breaking apart. CP 1366; RP 673-78, 744-56, 759, 947. As a result, Fife Portal had to cut out the driveway panels and replace them. CP 1367. CenturyLink's boring operation also caused the soil bedding beneath Fife Portal's underground utilities to settle, which compromised their structural integrity. RP 898-900, 908, 948. Fife Portal ultimately incurred hundreds of thousands of dollars to investigate and to remediate the damages.

using a backhoe to remove part of CenturyLink's conduit and causing further damage in the process. CP 27, 114; RP 432-33; Ex. 10 at 37-38. Fife Portal saw a CenturyLink representative standing on its property and overseeing this work. RP 669-70.

G. Fife Portal sued CenturyLink and Pacific. The trial court established Pacific's liability on summary judgment before trial, but barred Fife Portal from recovering the cost of First Corps' investigation and remediation work.

Fife Portal sued CenturyLink and Pacific for trespass, violation of the Underground Utility Damage Prevention Act, and negligence. CP 3-4. Fife Portal sought treble damages against both defendants under the trespass statute (RCW 4.24.630) and the Dig Law (RCW 19.122.070).

The trial court concluded on summary judgment that Pacific was liable for trespass and unauthorized conduit installation, triggering statutory treble damages. CP 195-98, 2832. The only issues left for trial were CenturyLink's liability and the amount of damages owed. The trial court, however, barred Fife Portal from recovering the cost of hiring First Corps to oversee the investigation and remediation of the damage caused by the boring work. CP 580-81.

H. The trial court dismissed Fife Portal's claims against CenturyLink, ruling that Fife Portal had failed to raise a jury question on causation. The jury awarded Fife Portal \$195,074.79 in compensatory damages against Pacific, which the trial court trebled.

After Fife Portal concluded its case-in-chief, CenturyLink moved for a directed verdict. CP 2251-59. The trial court dismissed all of Fife Portal's claims against CenturyLink, ruling that Fife Portal failed to raise a

jury question on whether CenturyLink's actions or omissions had been a cause-in-fact of Fife Portal's damages. RP 1012-13; CP 2557-60.<sup>3</sup> The jury rendered a verdict awarding Fife Portal \$195,074.79 in compensatory damages against Pacific. CP 2838-39. The trial court trebled those damages for a total award of \$585,224.37 and then awarded Fife Portal \$267,748.61 in attorneys' fees, for a total judgment of \$852,972.98 against Pacific. CP 3741-43, 3747-48, 3752-53.

#### I. The Court of Appeals affirmed across the board.

On appeal, Fife Portal sought reinstatement of its claims against CenturyLink and a trial against both defendants on the damages element that had been dismissed on summary judgment. Pacific cross-appealed the summary judgment on liability. Almost a year after judgment was entered against it, Pacific satisfied the judgment and dismissed its cross-appeal. CenturyLink then claimed that this satisfaction barred any claims against it. The Court of Appeals affirmed.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> If the trial court had denied CenturyLink's directed-verdict motion, and the jury had found CenturyLink liable, Fife Portal would have sought a judgment that awarded treble damages against both CenturyLink and Pacific.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> After the trial against CenturyLink and Pacific, to protect its rights to full compensation, Fife Portal sued the Pacific employees also responsible for the damages for which their employer had been found liable. (By this point, Pacific had not satisfied the judgment and had ceased operations.) The trial court denied a motion to dismiss those claims on res-judicata grounds, and the Court of Appeals granted discretionary review. The Court of Appeals ruled in favor of the employees on the sole ground that its resolution of Fife Portal's appeal mooted the claims against the employees. *Fife Portal*, *LLC v. Kotulan*, No. 53444-4-II, 2020 WL 4783740 (2020). Fife Portal does not seek review of that decision.

#### V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. This Court should grant review to hold that a principal is separately liable from its agent for statutory treble damages.

A party generally may obtain only one recovery for an injury. Under the "one satisfaction" rule, a satisfied judgment against one defendant typically bars a suit against other defendants jointly liable for the same injury. Crown Controls, Inc. v. Smiley, 110 Wn.2d 695, 702, 756 P.2d 717 (1988); Marshall v. Chapman's Estate, 31 Wn.2d 137, 144-46, 195 P.2d 656 (1948); see also RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF JUDGMENTS § 50 cmt. c (1982). But that rule does not apply to punitive damages. That is because punitive damages do not compensate; they seek to punish all culpable defendants and to deter them from repeated misconduct. Morgan v. Kingen, 141 Wn. App. 143, 161-62, 169 P.3d 487 (2007); Bosco v. Serhant, 836 F.2d 271, 281 (7th Cir. 1987) (Posner, J.). Indeed, crediting a satisfaction of judgment to any portion of punitive damages would "defeat the purposes of punitive damages." LINDA L. SCHLUETER, PUNITIVE DAMAGES § 4.10(C)(1), at 233 (7th ed. 2015). That is why nearly all jurisdictions permit a plaintiff to recover punitive damages against each liable defendant.

*Id.* § 4.10(C)(3), at 235<sup>5</sup>; *see also* RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF JUDGMENTS § 51 cmt. d (illustration 8).

This Court should grant review to consider whether to adopt this near-universal principle. Doing so will effectuate the purpose of the treble damage provisions of RCW 4.24.630(1) and RCW 19.122.070(2), both of which embody a legislative policy to punish and deter wrongdoers—the hallmark features of punitive damages.<sup>6</sup> Adopting this rule will prevent CenturyLink—the principal miscreant—from escaping full accountability for its wrongdoing. That Pacific has fully paid the compensatory damages awarded to date should not free CenturyLink from accounting via treble damages for its role in causing those damages to Fife Portal's property.

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