FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/30/2020 11:46 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99185-5

(Court of Appeals No. 52415-5-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FIFE PORTAL, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company; FIFE PORTAL 140 OWNERS ASSOCIATION, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company; Z.V. COMPANY, INC., a Washington Corporation,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

CENTURYLINK, INC., a Louisiana corporation licensed to do business in Washington; and PACIFIC UTILITY CONTRACTORS, INC., a Washington Corporation,

Defendants/Respondents.

#### **RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Counsel for Defendants/Respondents:

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

There is one narrow exception to this unequivocal rule against damages as "punishment" and "deterrent": where the Legislature has enacted a "penal statute" that allows a plaintiff to recover a fixed multiple of her actual damages. Among these are the treble damage provisions of the timber trespass statute (RCW 64.12.030); the trespass and waste statute (RCW 4.24.630(1)) and the Underground Utility Damage Prevention Act (RCW 19.122.070(2)).

Not one Washington treble damages statute ever has been construed and applied to allow a plaintiff to obtain multiple awards of treble damages for a single loss. In fact, FP never has cited a single case from *any* jurisdiction that has applied a treble damages statute that way.

*Hoefer, Dailey* and *Broughton* provide the controlling Washington law; and the law of Hawaii, New Mexico, South Carolina and elsewhere provides no useful guidance here. As this Court observed in *Broughton*:

Washington, unlike other states, employs a very restrictive approach to punitive damages.... Washington prohibits the recovery of punitive damages as a violation of public policy unless expressly authorized by statute.... *Our interpretative approach should account for this philosophical difference*.<sup>22</sup>

Furthermore, to effect its tortured construction of the treble damages statutes, FP also has proposed that RCW 4.24.630 and 19.122.070 should be split into a "compensatory" component and a "punitive" component.<sup>23</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Broughton, 174 Wn.2d at 639, n.14 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See Appellants' Reply Brief, filed October 31, 2019, at 4 (arguing that CenturyLink should be liable for twice the jury's award of actual damages -- the supposed "punitive damages"

However, that argument also runs afoul of *Broughton*, which held that a Washington treble damages statute "cannot reasonably be divided into a penal portion and a remedial portion" – exactly what FP has asked the Court to do here.<sup>24</sup>

When the Legislature says a plaintiff may recover treble damages, the Legislature means what it says. If the Legislature intended to permit a plaintiff to reap a windfall beyond three times her actual damages, it would say so – and it has never said so. This Court should deny review of FP's "multiple punitive damages" issue, enumerated Issue 1 in the petition for review.<sup>25</sup>

### B. The Court should deny review because all three Divisions of the Court of Appeals correctly have held that RCW 4.24.630(1) is precisely and unambiguously worded; and that it imposes treble damages liability only when a defendant physically trespasses on the plaintiff's land <u>and</u> wrongfully causes damage while on the land.

Washington's "trespass and waste" statute, RCW 4.24.630(1), "precisely and unambiguously" applies to "[e]very person who goes onto the land of another" *and* removes valuable property or causes property damage while "on the land of another."<sup>26</sup> FP's petition somehow neglects to mention that all

portion of the treble damages allowed under the statute – since the "compensatory" portion of the remedy was already reduced to judgment against Pacific).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Broughton*, 174 Wn.2d at 674.

 $<sup>^{25}</sup>$  The Court need not even reach Issue 1 unless CenturyLink can be liable for treble damages under RCW 4.24.630(1) or RCW 19.122.070(2) – and it cannot be, as a matter of law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Broughton Lumber Co. v. BNSF Ry., 2010 WL 4670479, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 119721 (D. Or. Nov. 9, 2010) ("Washington courts have opined that RCW 4.24.630(1) is 'precisely and unambiguously worded' and that *the 'statute's premise is that the defendant physically trespasses on the plaintiff's land.*")(emphasis added).

three Divisions of the Court of Appeals have adopted this unequivocal construction of the plain text of RCW 4.24.630(1); and FP expends not one word in an effort to distinguish or provide grounds to reverse any one of the Court of Appeals' reported decisions construing the statute.

In 2003, in Colwell v. Etzell, Division III held:

*RCW* 4.24.630 *is premised upon a wrongful invasion or physical trespass upon another's property*, a commission of intentional and unreasonable acts upon another's property, and subsequent destruction of physical or personal property *by the invader* to another's property...<sup>27</sup>

In 2010, consistent with Colwell v. Etzell, Division I held in Clipse v.

Michels Pipeline Const., Inc.:

The statute establishes liability for three types of conduct occurring upon the land of another: (1) removing valuable property from the land, (2) wrongfully causing waste or injury to the land, and (3) wrongfully injuring personal property or real estate improvements on the land. By its express terms, the statute requires wrongfulness only with respect to the latter two alternatives. Presence on the land is required for all three.<sup>28</sup>

Most recently, in 2017, in Kave v. McIntosh Ridge Primary Rd. Ass'n, 29

Division II, like Division I, adopted the plain meaning construction of RCW

4.24.630(1) Division III applied in *Colwell v. Etzell*.

While keeping these decisions under wraps, FP's petition asks the Court

to simply read "person who goes onto the land" out of the statute; and seeks

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> 119 Wn.App. 432, 442, 81 P.3d 895 (2003) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> 154 Wn.App. 573, 577-78, 225 P.3d 492 (2010) (boldface emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> 198 Wn.App. 812, 824, 394 P.3d 446 (2017).

support for the argument in Broughton Lumber Co. v. BNSF Ry. Co.<sup>30</sup>

However, FP's reliance on *Broughton* is misplaced -- a failed attempt to turn an apple into an orange. Unlike RCW 4.24.630(1), the wording of the timber trespass statute at issue in *Broughton* (the former RCW 64.12.030) *did not* expressly make "presence on the land of another" an essential element of the statutory cause of action. As the *Broughton* Court noted, "the [timber trespass] statute focuses on *conduct, not location*."<sup>31</sup> In glaring contrast, RCW 4.24.630(1) expressly focuses on *conduct and location*, as the Court of Appeals has held in *Colwell, Clipse* and *Kave*.

In *Broughton*, this Court also applied two basic principles of statutory construction: *first*, "a court must not interpret a statute in any way that renders any portion meaningless or superfluous"; and *second*, statutes that permit a plaintiff to recover treble damages are "penal in nature" and "must be strictly construed."<sup>32</sup> FP's proposed reading of RCW 4.24.630(1) would have the Court accept review to violate both those principles.

FP also simply ignores this Court's actual holding in *Broughton:* that a defendant's allegedly negligent, "indirect trespass" cannot result in liability for treble damages -- even under a statute, like the timber trespass statute, that does not specifically require that a defendant "go onto the land of another" as an essential element of the cause of action. Under the *Broughton* analysis,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> 174 Wn.2d 619, 278 P.3d 173 (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> *Broughton*, 174 Wn.2d at 635.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Broughton, 174 Wn.2d at 633-34.

when a defendant's allegedly "culpable omissions" off the property indirectly cause damage, the plaintiff may have a claim for *actual damages* under common law. However, neither the "timber trespass" nor the "trespass and waste statute," when properly and strictly construed, expose a defendant to liability for *treble damages* and attorney fees because of allegedly negligent conduct that occurs away from the damaged property, resulting in an alleged "indirect trespass."<sup>33</sup>

Division II's decision here properly construed and applied RCW 4.24.630(1) to the evidence in the record. As a result, the Court should deny review of Issue 2 set forth in FP's petition.

### C. The Court should deny review because under the unambiguous wording of ch. 19.122 RCW, the "Underground Utility Damage Prevention Act," CenturyLink is not an "excavator" subject to liability for treble damages.

In RCW 19.122.010(1), the Legislature expressly stated its intent to create a "comprehensive damage prevention program" that would "*assign responsibility* for providing notice of proposed excavation, locating and marking underground utilities, and reporting and repairing damage." (Emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Broughton, 174 Wn.2d at 632-33. This is consistent with the legislative history, which indicates the treble damages remedy provided in RCW 4.24.630(1) was intended to deter malicious vandalism, and never intended to address negligence that might occur away from the property and indirectly result in property damage. *See Gunn v. Riely*, 185 Wn.App. 517, 525, 344 P.3d 225 (2015) (reviewing legislative history of RCW 4.24.630, including debate which shows that intentional acts of vandalism are "really what we are getting at" in the trespass statute).

The statute goes on to define the word "excavator," and then parses out the responsibilities of the "project owner"; who retains an "excavator"; who directly engages in excavation work that may affect the existing underground utilities of a "facility operator."

RCW 19.122.020(10) defines the word "excavator" and it could not be clearer: "*any person who engages directly in excavation.*"

RCW 19.122.027 establishes a "one number service" that excavators must contact to obtain information on existing utilities; and requires "facility operators" who maintain existing underground utilities to subscribe to the service so they will obtain notice of proposed excavation work via the service;

RCW 19.122.030, titled "*Excavator and facility operator duties prior to excavation*," requires the "excavator" to notify "facility operators" via the service; and requires those "facility operators" in turn to come to the site to mark existing utilities that may be affected by the excavator's work;

RCW 19.122.040, titled "*Excavator's duty of care*," only requires a "project owner" to notify its contracted "excavator" of existing utilities of which the owner has actual knowledge;<sup>34</sup> and assigns responsibility to the "excavator" to take specific steps to avoid damaging existing utilities;

RCW 19.122.050, titled "*Damage to underground facility – notice* by excavator," requires the excavator to provide notice when it damages an existing underground utility;

RCW 19.122.070(1), imposes a \$1000 civil penalty on "any person" for violation of ch. 19.122 RCW; and finally,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Clevco v. Municipality of Metro Seattle, 59 Wn.App. 536, 543-44, 799 P.2d 1183 (1990). Under RCW 19.122.030-040, Pacific was required to mark the boundaries of its excavation and confirm the location of property boundaries and underground utilities in its work area. CenturyLink never agreed to assume Pacific's statutory obligations. (RP 465-73). Consistent with the statute, the site drawing clearly stated the contractor (Pacific) must independently confirm the location of property boundaries and underground utilities. Trial Ex. 5.

RCW 19.122.070(2), specifically imposes treble damages only on an "excavator" who willfully violates the Act; and whose failure to provide notice to the "one number service" prior to excavation is deemed willful and malicious, triggering the treble damages remedy.

CenturyLink is not in the excavation business and did not "engage directly in excavation" here. That is why CenturyLink retained Pacific under a contract to perform excavation work; and that is what the statutory scheme, read as a whole, plainly contemplates will usually occur.

Read as a whole, the statute also contemplates that the *excavator*, who puts shovel (or boring equipment) to dirt in the field must be the one to mark the boundaries of its work. The excavator must notify "facility operators" whose infrastructure might be affected before work commences and if damage occurs during the work. And thus the excavator will bear exposure to treble damages should it fail to meet the obligations the Legislature specifically assigned to the "excavator" in ch.19.122 RCW.

Under the statute the "project owner" – CenturyLink here -- is entitled to rely on its independent contractor to protect existing infrastructure and to perform its work without negligently, recklessly or willfully failing to comply with the responsibilities assigned to "excavators" under the Act.

There is no question FP fully understands this is how the "comprehensive scheme" set forth in ch. 19.122 RCW is intended work. That is how the statute's assignment of responsibility was understood when CenturyLink retained Pacific; and that is how Pacific plainly understood its responsibilities when it called the 811 service to advise what the boundaries

21

of its work would be; as well as when Pacific worked directly with the City to obtain and mark existing utilities in those boundaries.

In fact, that is the way FP asked the trial court to read ch. 19.122 RCW when it moved for summary judgment against Pacific. (CP 60-62).

In FP's sprawling 85-page opening brief in Division II, FP itself argued that CenturyLink is a "project owner" and/or a "facility operator" under ch. 19.122 RCW. (Brief of Appellant at 33-34). FP did not argue that CenturyLink is an "excavator" as defined in the statute in its 50-page Division II reply brief either.

Even after Division II issued its opinion, FP's motion for reconsideration did not so much as cite the provisions of ch. 19.122 RCW. Instead, FP vociferously argued at length that CenturyLink is a "corporate oligarchy" that ought to be punished, and that the treble damages statutes must be broadly construed in the interest of a "public interest" the Legislature evidently did not share with FP when it wrote the Act.<sup>35</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Motion for reconsideration, filed August 31, 2020, at 23-25. As far as we have been able to discern, the sum total of FP's argument in Division II concerning CenturyLink's alleged status as an "excavator" under RCW 19.122.070(2) – buried in over 175 pages of briefing below -- appeared at page 6, in footnote 2 of the "Appellant's Post-Argument Reply Brief" filed on June 25, 2020:

As for treble damages under the Dig Law [ch. 19.122 RCW], CenturyLink took on the responsibility for locating and marking utilities and then utterly failed in fulfilling that responsibility; CenturyLink should not be allowed to evade the ensuing punitive damages liability based on a rigidly technical and isolated reading of the term "excavator" that would serve only to frustrate the purpose of the statute.

Furthermore, if this Court were to adopt FP's gloss on the statute, that would upend the clearly defined roles and the orderly procedure for preconstruction notice and marking of existing utilities the Legislature created.

Boiled down to its essentials, FP's argument is that a telecommunications company like CenturyLink cannot retain an independent excavation contractor to perform excavation work and depend on that contractor to do what the contract and ch. 19.122. RCW require the excavator to do. This would result in confusion about who is responsible for what tasks before and during construction; and would impose responsibilities on telecommunications companies and other utilities the statutory wording plainly indicates the Legislature did not intend them to carry.

FP's proposed reading of ch. 19.122 RCW comes far too late;<sup>36</sup> and it runs directly counter to the statutory wording in any event. This Court should deny review of Issue 3 in the petition for review.

D. The Court should deny review because none of the plaintiffs incurred compensable damages – i.e., an enforceable obligation to pay for George Humphrey's time -- either as a paid employee or as an outside vendor.

No doubt aware that Humphrey's alleged "oral agreement" to retain himself would not withstand scrutiny, FP's opening brief in Division II cited, and asked the court to follow, a long list of authorities that address a plaintiff's right to recover damages for costs incurred to investigate and repair property damage using its own employees, equipment and materials.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> See footnote 6, supra.

*Curt's Trucking Co. v. City of Anchorage*<sup>37</sup> is a representative example of the numerous "self-help" cases FP's opening brief asked Division II to apply to determine whether Humphrey's "fees" are compensable damages – and it did not help FP's cause one iota.

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